# **REVIEW**



# Review on the methodology to assess respiratory tract lesions in pigs and their production impact



Dominiek Maes<sup>1\*</sup>, Marina Sibila<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Maria Pieters<sup>5</sup>, Freddy Haesebrouck<sup>1</sup>, Joaquim Segalés<sup>2,4,6</sup> and Luís Guilherme de Oliveira<sup>7</sup>

# Abstract

Porcine respiratory disease is one of the most important health problems in pig production worldwide. Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation (CVPC) and pleurisy are the two most common lesions in the respiratory tract of slaughtered pigs. The present review paper discusses pathogens involved in the lesions, lesion prevalence, scoring systems, advantages and disadvantages of slaughterhouse examination, and the impact of CVPC and pleurisy on performance, carcass, and meat quality. Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation and pleurisy in slaughter pigs are characteristic for infections with Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae and Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae, respectively, although other pathogens may cause similar lesions and/or be involved in their development. The overall prevalence of CVPC and pleurisy in slaughter pigs are still high, being the prevalence of CVPC generally higher than that of chronic pleurisy. The advantages and disadvantages of slaughterhouse examination are discussed in relation to practical aspects, the assessment of lesions, the number and representativeness of the examined animals and the interpretation and value of the results for the stakeholders. The main scoring methods for CVPC and pleurisy are shortly reviewed. In general, scoring methods can be applied rapidly and easily, although significant variation due to abattoir and observer remains. Artificial intelligence-based technologies that automatically score lesions and facilitate processing of data may aid solving these problems. Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation and pleurisy have a major negative impact on pig performance, and the effects increase the extension of the lesions and/or presence of multiple lesions. The performance losses caused by these lesions, however, vary significantly between studies and farms, possibly due to differences in study population and used methodology. Both lesions also have a negative impact on different carcass and meat quality parameters, leading to increased risk for poor processing and storage of the carcasses. Monitoring lung lesions of slaughter pigs should be optimized and implemented routinely; however, it is recommended to complement this information with farm data and laboratory results for specific pathogens.

Keywords Pigs, lung, lesion, slaughterhouse, cranioventral pulmonary consolidation, pleurisy, impact

Handling editor: Marcelo Gottschalk

\*Correspondence: Dominiek Maes Dominiek.Maes@UGent.be Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

# **Table of Contents**

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Characterization of cranioventral pulmonary consolidation and pleurisy
  - 2.1 Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation
  - 2.2 Pleurisy



© The Author(s) 2023. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

- 3 Pathogens involved in CVPC and pleurisy
- 4 Prevalence of CVPC and pleurisy lesions
- 5 Slaughterhouse examination
  - 5.1 Practical aspects
  - 5.2 Assessment of lesions
  - 5.3 Examined animals
  - 5.4 Interpretation of the results
- 6 Scoring systems for CVPC and pleurisy
  - 6.1 Scoring of CVPC
  - 6.2 Scoring of pleurisy
    - 6.2.1 System by Madec and Kobisch
    - 6.2.2 System by the centre technique de productions animales (CTPA)
    - 6.2.3 System by Pointon et al. [66]
    - 6.2.4 Slaughterhouse pleurisy evaluation system (SPES)
    - 6.2.5 System by Christensen et al. [41]
    - 6.2.6 System by Sibila et al. [27]
  - 6.3 Artificial intelligence to score lesions
- 7 Impact of CVPC and pleurisy on performance
  - 7.1 Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation
    - 7.1.1 Impact of presence of CVPC
    - 7.1.2 Impact of severity (extension) of CVPC
  - 7.2 Pleurisy
- 8 Impact of CVPC and pleurisy on carcass and meat quality
- 9 Conclusions and areas for further research
- References

# **1** Introduction

In the slaughterhouse, pig carcasses are evaluated by means of different parameters to assess their quality and suitability for human consumption. In addition to the food safety aspects, the slaughterhouse also represents a key check-point to capture more information about the health status of pig farms. In this sense, slaughterhouse data may complement data collected at farm level (e.g. clinical signs observation, necropsy findings, laboratory results and performance data) and be part of an integrated system for animal health monitoring. Lesions in many different organ systems such as the respiratory, cardiovascular, intestinal and urogenital tracts, integument and locomotion can be assessed. Such slaughterhouse data may provide unique and valuable feedback to the pig producers and their herd veterinarians, as well as be an important source of data for epidemiological and efficacy studies [1].

Evaluation of the respiratory tract is particularly important, as the porcine respiratory disease complex (PRDC) is considered the most important health problem in pig production worldwide. This is the case in intensive production systems, where large groups of pigs are housed in confinement [2]. The two most prevalent pulmonary conditions observed in pigs on abattoir inspection are suppurative bronchopneumonia, characterized by cranioventral pulmonary consolidation (CVPC), and pleuritis or pleurisy, which is most frequently seen over the caudal lobes [1, 3-5]. As these lesions are rather easy to examine at the slaughter line, they are often assessed in epidemiological studies and/or monitoring systems [1, 6]. The outcome of this assessment allows providing information about the respiratory health status of fattening pigs, to benchmark farms and to implement possible control measures against respiratory disease at the farm. The lesions are also economically important, as they are associated with increased time to market [7, 8]. In addition, they might cause problems in abattoirs because carcasses need to be trimmed due to partial condemnations [9]. This requires extra labor and may slow down the speed of the slaughter line. Finally, respiratory disease has significant negative impacts on indicators of pig welfare, as pigs may suffer from coughing, dyspnea, fever, discomfort, and reduced feed intake [10, 11].

The present review paper discusses CVPC and pleurisy lesions in fattening pigs, their characteristics, the most important pathogens involved, their occurrence, lesion scoring systems, advantages and disadvantages of slaughterhouse examination, and the impact of CVPC and pleurisy on performance, carcass, and meat quality.

# 2 Characterization of cranioventral pulmonary consolidation and pleurisy

# 2.1 Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation

In the present paper, the term cranioventral pulmonary consolidation (CVPC) will be used to describe *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* (*M. hyopneumoniae*)-like gross lung lesions, which consist of purple to grey areas of pulmonary consolidation, mainly located bilaterally in the apical intermediate and accessory lobes, including the cranial parts of the diaphragmatic lobes in the most extensive cases [12, 13]. In the literature, also other terms have been used to describe these lesions such as catarrhal pneumonia, bronchopneumonia, Mycoplasma-pneumonia, Mycoplasma-like lesions.

Lesions caused by *M. hyopneumoniae* infections reach the maximum extension at 3–4 weeks post-inoculation [14–16]. Uncomplicated lesions are characterized by the presence of a catarrhal-purulent exudate in the airways, a uniform color of the parenchyma of the lung and a "meaty" consistency. Completely consolidated lung areas sink in water, whereas normal aerated lung areas float [11]. In incipient cases in which the consolidation does not completely affect the entire parenchyma, the lung may still float in water due to the presence of air. It takes approximately 7 to 10 weeks for the lesions to be healed, with no evidence of gross lesions anymore [12]. However, in chronic stages (more frequently seen at the slaughterhouse), consolidated areas may look purple to grey, and usually evolve to scarring and tissue retraction. These interlobular scar retractions of connective tissue are also called fissures [12, 17]. These chronic lesions are, usually, not as well coloured and demarcated as acute ones, and their scoring could be more challenging.

Under field conditions, *M. hyopneumoniae* infections are often complicated by other bacterial and/or viral pathogens [13]. In case of secondary bacterial pathogens, the lesions may occupy a larger surface of the lung and be characterized by the presence of mucopurulent exudate in the airways, a firmer tissue consistency and an inconsistent greyish color of the parenchyma. In this case, the histopathological lesion is diagnosed as suppurative bronchopneumonia.

In the case of complicating viral infections (PRDC), affected pigs show interstitial pneumonia characterized by tan-mottled, enlarged and non-collapsed lungs, rubbery in consistency, sometimes with interstitial edema. Frequently, enlargement of tracheobronchial lymph nodes does occur as well [13]. In case of complicating infections with other bacterial and/or viral pathogens, the healing, repair, and restitution periods are longer than in uncomplicated infections, and the probability of complete resolution is lower.

#### 2.2 Pleurisy

The serosa of the thoracic cavity, *cavum thoracicum*, is called pleura. The pleura lining the thorax is called parietal pleura and originates from the somatopleura. The pleura covering the lungs is called visceral pleura and originates from the splanchnopleura. Pleurisy, an inflammation of the pleura, is a common pathological condition observed in slaughter pigs. In the present paper, the term pleurisy will be used, although also other terms have been used in literature, such as chronic pleurisy, dorso-caudal pleurisy or pleuritis [10, 18].

Infections with *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae* (*A. pleuropneumoniae*) are often involved in pleurisy in pigs. In chronic cases, fibrin deposited on serosal surfaces gradually becomes organized, leading to the development of chronic fibrous adhesions between the visceral and parietal pleura. These adhesions can be firm and

often result in tearing of the lungs during removal at necropsy or at the slaughterhouse, leaving portions of the lung adhered to the thoracic wall. Necrotic areas tend to resolve by fibrosis and scarring; however, in a number of cases, necrotic foci remain surrounded by scar tissue, and they are known as sequestra. Fibrous pleurisy affecting larger areas might be associated with similar lesions in the pericardial sac, namely chronic pericarditis [10]. The evolution of fibrous pleural lesions is a long process with a duration of at least one, more often two to three months [10].

# 3 Pathogens involved in CVPC and pleurisy

Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation and pleurisy lesions in slaughter pigs are typical for infections with M. hyopneumoniae and A. pleuropneumoniae, respectively. Enøe et al. [19] demonstrated that herds seropositive for M. hyopneumoniae or A. pleuropneumoniae had CVPC and chronic pleurisy in 29% and 51% of the pigs at slaughter, respectively. In slaughter-aged pigs, the percentage of lungs with CVPC were significantly higher in M. hyopneumoniae seropositive farms compared to the seronegative ones [20]. Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae is the primary etiological agent of enzootic pneumonia (EP), a chronic respiratory disease in pigs, and it is one of the main pathogens involved in the PRDC [2, 21]. Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae is a Gram-negative bacterium and the etiological agent of porcine pleuropneumonia [10]. Infections may lead to inflammation of the lung and the pleura, and may cause either acute or chronic clinical signs and lesions.

Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation and pleurisy lesions are however not pathognomonic for these two pathogens, as other pathogens may cause similar lesions and/or also be involved in these lesions as part of a polymicrobial disease complex [22]. Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation lesions can also be caused by infections with viruses, in particular swine influenza virus (IAVs) [2] and other bacterial agents such as *Pasteurella multocida* (*P. multocida*) and *Bordetella bronchiseptica* (*B. bronchiseptica*). On the other hand, *A. pleuropneumoniae*, *M. hyorhinis*, *Glaesserella parasuis* (*G. parasuis*), *Trueperella pyogenes*, *streptococci* or *staphylococci* can be detected in CVPC lesions, although these lesions are not primarily caused by these pathogens [2, 23].

Pleurisy has been reported in many different studies [24–28] to be strongly associated with *A. pleuropneu-moniae*. Mousing et al. [29] had calculated that 44% of all pleurisy lesions could be attributed to infection with *A. pleuropneumoniae* serotype 2. In the study of Jirawat-tanapong et al. [30], however, such an association was only found in 4 out of 10 farms with pleurisy. The latter

authors and also others [10, 28] reported that a variety of infectious agents such as P. multocida, G. parasuis and *M. hyorhinis* can be involved in pleurisy lesions in pigs. The role of Streptococcus suis as causative agent of CVPC or pleuritis has not been demonstrated convincingly. In addition, observational studies found an association between the prevalence of pleurisy and the seroprevalence of pathogens that are known not to cause pleurisy, such as M. hyopneumoniae [19, 24, 31], porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) [32], porcine circovirus 2 [33] and IAVs [29, 34, 35]. These observations can probably be explained by the multietiological nature of the clinical respiratory problems in most farms, rather than interpreting that these pathogens can cause pleurisy. Also, progressive atrophic rhinitis was associated with pleurisy in conventional Danish pig herds, interacting with A. pleuropneumoniae serotype 7 [19, 29]. Paisley et al. [36] classified pleurisy lesions according to localization and indicated that pleurisy confined to the dorso-caudal lobes is primarily associated with A. pleuropneumoniae infections, whereas cranioventral pleuritis is often associated with lesions such as pericarditis and complicated pneumonia.

Wallgren et al. [28] reported that, although the prevalence of CVPC and pleurisy at slaughter can be quite similar between farms, the pathogens, as well as the infection patterns during the fattening period, can be quite variable. Also, many non-infectious parameters have been identified as risk factors for the prevalence and/or severity of CVPC and pleurisy in herds infected by bacterial pathogens able to cause these lesions [3, 6, 24, 25, 31, 37].

# 4 Prevalence of CVPC and pleurisy lesions

Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation and pleurisy are both commonly observed lesions in slaughter pigs. The prevalence of slaughter pigs with CVPC and pleurisy lesions published in peer-reviewed international journals since 2000 are shown in Table 1. There were no published studies from North-America, possibly because lung lesion evaluation in slaughter pigs is less frequently performed in that world region.

The prevalence of CVPC is generally higher than that of chronic pleurisy, although that might not be the case in all countries, e.g. Denmark. The lowest CVPC prevalence was found in New Zealand, namely 8% [38], the highest in Brazil, around 74% [6]. The lowest pleurisy prevalence was found in Finland [39], namely 6%, and the highest in Italy, approximately 50% [40]. In a study conducted before 2000 in Denmark, Christensen and Enøe [41] showed that pleurisy accounted for approximately 70% of all post-mortem recordings at meat inspection. In a Brazilian study conducted in 30 large herds, the lesion was observed in 14% of the animals [6], while in another region of the country, in 21 farms with different production characteristics, the prevalence was 9% [31], suggesting that it is a widespread challenge.

The results show a large variation between the different studies. Part of the variation may be due to differences in study design (study population, age at slaughter), pathogen prevalence, and scoring of the lesions. The variation between individual farms and/or individual batches of slaughter pigs within each study may even be higher. Neumann et al. [38] showed that, based on data from a large national abattoir-based lesion recording system over a 10-year period, farm of origin and not abattoir, explained most of the variance in prevalence of CVPC.

Interestingly, the overall prevalence of CVPC and pleurisy in slaughter pigs since 2000 (Table 1) is similar as that reported in older studies (for review, see Maes [42]). This is surprising as some control measures against the

**Table 1** Prevalenceofcranioventralpulmonaryconsolidation (CVPC) and pleurisy in slaughter pigs<sup>a</sup>

Country	Number of		Percentage of pigs with		References
	Farms	Pigs	CVPC	Pleurisy	
Australia	46	210	_c	15	[89]
Belgium	150 50	3,750 6,335	24 24	16 21	[3] [24]
Brazil	21 30	908 900	72 74	9 14	[31] [6]
Denmark	259 321	10 628 2064	_c _c	27 30	[18] [19]
Finland	46	690	_ <sup>C</sup>	6	[39]
France	1196 14 143	110 865 6997 4290	72 58 69	14 10 14	[90] [54] [25]
Germany	20	1000	73	_ c	[46]
Ireland	38 56	5628 23 372	58 11	43 13	[91] [34]
Italy	91 48 _ <sup>b</sup> _ <sup>b</sup>	10 041 4889 216 5902	60 46 _ <sup>c</sup>	- 48 50 42	[85] [26] [40] [48]
New Zealand	279	6 220 664	18	14	[38]
Philippines	471	1887	48	22	[92]
Serbia	20	625	42	24	[88]
Spain Spain and Portugal	107 221	10 404 199 678	56 31	27 19	[21] [17]
Switzerland	10	375	59	_c	[46]
Thailand	17	646	58	_c	[93]
UK	4420	2 261 779	27	12	[1]

<sup>a</sup> results from peer-reviewed studies published since 2000, and including at least 3 herds or more than 200 pigs

<sup>b</sup> not mentioned

<sup>c</sup> not investigated

PRDC have improved during the last two decades, such as vaccination against respiratory pathogens in fattening pigs, e.g. M. hyopneumoniae, PCV-2 and PRRSV. Also, much emphasis has been placed on the importance of biosecurity and tools for scoring biosecurity have been developed. The fact that the prevalence of lesions has not decreased might be attributed to suboptimal farm characteristics and insufficient implementation of proper management and biosecurity practices [39], a potential decrease in the use of antibiotics, suboptimal vaccines and vaccination practices, possible changes in the virulence and/or transmission capacity of pathogens and/or the fact that pig production has become further intensified, with fattening pigs being raised in larger groups and on larger farms. Differences in study design might also play a role. It is not clear whether the severity of the lesions has remained the same. Overall, the high prevalence values indicate that the respiratory health of fattening pigs needs to be improved, and that research focusing on improving management and biosecurity in pig farms and on developing vaccines that confer better protection is warranted. In addition to developing better control measures, also research focusing on how to increase the implementation of these measures is needed.

Lower levels of CVPC are found in countries that are almost free of *M. hyopneumoniae* such as Switzerland, Finland and Norway. In these countries, official regional and/or national eradication programs for *M. hyopneumoniae* are in place, and farms infected with *M. hyopneumoniae* are only sporadically detected [43–45]. However, and surprisingly, Luehrs et al. [46] examined the lungs of slaughter pigs from 10 Swiss pig farms that were free of *M. hyopneumoniae* and reported an overall CVPC prevalence of 59%. The lesions were mild, as their extension was less than 10% of the lung tissue for most of the pigs. This finding illustrates that the lesions observed in these farms could be caused by other bacterial pathogens different from *M. hyopneumoniae*.

The prevalence of pleurisy has traditionally been low in some North-European countries such as Finland and Sweden. However, data from recent studies [28, 39] and the Finnish Food Authority [47] showed that the prevalence of pleurisy in these countries has increased during the last years. The specific reasons are not clear, as it does not seem to be related to infection with one specific pathogen, like *A. pleuropneumoniae*. The authors of these studies [28, 39] speculate that it might result from a combination of infections with different pathogens in combination with suboptimal management and farm conditions. Most probably, the decrease of use of prophylactic antibiotics might have also contributed to this scenario. Further research is needed to explore the reasons for this increase.

#### 5 Slaughterhouse examination

Slaughterhouse examination has great potential to assess many different aspects of the respiratory health of fattening pigs such as confirmation and quantification of respiratory disease in the farm, detection of subclinical infections, and it may also serve as an important outcome parameter for various types of research studies (e.g. efficacy studies). An overview of the advantages and disadvantages of slaughterhouse examination for assessing respiratory tract lesions is shown in Table 2, which are discussed in relation to practical aspects, the assessment of lesions, the number and representativeness of the examined animals, and the interpretation and value of the results for the stakeholders.

## 5.1 Practical aspects

Evaluation of respiratory tract lesions at slaughter is a rather easy way to collect information about the respiratory health of fattening pigs [37]. It is important to make the practical arrangements with the transport company and the slaughterhouse on beforehand. Some slaughterhouses might (temporarily) not allow access to external persons to enter the facilities and/or to evaluate the lungs e.g. for biosecurity reasons. Therefore, it is imperative to communicate with the person responsible for meat inspection and/or monitoring the slaughterhouse facilities.

The timing of slaughtering a specific batch of pigs cannot always be determined precisely, because of practical issues at the slaughter line or with the transport of the pigs. Therefore, the slaughtering of the pigs might be delayed or else, and even worse, when the expected arrival of other batches of pigs to the abattoir is delayed, the batch of pigs of our interest might be slaughtered earlier than the proposed time. In order not to disturb the process, it is important to understand the slaughter flowchart and to know the specific place where the evaluation will be carried out. The scoring itself can be done fast and, typically, a sufficient number of animals can be scored in a short time. An accurate assessment of lesions might be challenging in case of a fast speed of the slaughter line. In some cases, only one side of the lungs can be evaluated. In current industrial slaughter facilities, the speed of slaughtering is often more than 500 pigs per hour [48]. Therefore, a scoring system that allows quick evaluation with ease, in accordance with the speed of the slaughter line, is preferred [1]. Else, not all pigs but a subset of the population (e.g. every two or three pigs) should be evaluated.

The evaluation is also inexpensive, as it is based on visual assessment and palpation of the lungs. In case plucks are taken away from the slaughter line for subsequent more in-depth analysis, payment to the slaughterhouse might be needed.

# 5.2 Assessment of lesions

Most scoring methods are based on a visual and subjective estimation of the proportion of lung affected surface and/or volume [49]. Therefore, the scoring should be done by an experienced person or after proper training. If this is not the case, it is prone to erroneous assessment. Systems for automatic recording of lesions (pictures or digital data) of the respiratory tract would not have these disadvantages [48].

Slaughter checks are also useful to detect subclinical respiratory infections, i.e. pigs that did not show obvious clinical signs during the fattening period, although they exhibit lung lesions. However, subclinical infections that do not lead to gross lesions of the respiratory tract are not detected [50].

The presence as well as the severity of different types of lung lesions, considering the resolution time of such lesions, can be assessed. Detailed analysis or simultaneous assessment of many different lesions might be difficult or impossible in slaughterhouses with high speed of the slaughter process. In this case, one should focus on a sample of pigs and/or remove the materials from the slaughter line (when allowed) and transfer them to an appropriate location for more detailed assessment.

Another disadvantage is that the presence of severe pleurisy may obscure the evaluation of CVPC [49]. This is especially the case when major parts of the lung stick to the inner chest wall of the carcasses.

#### 5.3 Examined animals

It is important that the examined pigs are representative for the situation on the farm. Assessment of the best or worst performing pigs of a batch will lead to biased results. This risk is higher in case the pigs of a barn are

	Strengths	Limitations, critical considerations
Practical aspects		
Practical arrangement with slaughterhouse	Rather easy	Sometimes access to slaughterhouse is not allowed No guarantee of precise time of slaughter- ing
Time needed for assessment	Short, often less than one hour	Speed of slaughter line might be too high to assess all pigs
Cost of evaluation	Inexpensive (visual assessment, palpation)	Payment might be required when removing lung plucks
Assessment of lesions		
Evaluation	Easy for experienced person	Subjective, training needed; presence of lesion (yes/no) less informative than extension of lesion
Subclinical infections	Detected in case lesions are present	Only for infections leading to gross lesions
Severity/extension of lesions	Possible	Needs more time than detection of presence (yes/ no) of lesion
Detailed analysis	Possible when plucks are removed from slaugh- ter line	Not possible at the slaughter line
Simultaneous assessment of different lesions	Possible e.g. pneumonia, pleurisy	Severe pleurisy may mask evaluation of other lung lesions
Examined animals		
Representative for farm situation	Easy in case all pigs of a barn are slaughtered (all-out principle)	Difficult when pigs are not marketed at once; evaluation of best or worst pigs might provide biased results
Number of animals	Large number possible (minimum 30, preferably more)	Representative sample of slaughtered batch can be selected
Interpretation of results		
Type of data	Prevalence, as lesions are examined only once (snapshot)	No incidence data (lesions not monitored over time); lesions are dynamic and can heal over time
Relevance for diagnosis	Typical lesions may suggest infection (previous or active)	No etiologic diagnosis as lesions are not pathog- nomonic
Benchmarking	Possible, within a farm (time evolution, barn effects), against other farms or national average	Lesions should be examined in a standardized way
Assessment of intervention strategies	Possible e.g. vaccinations	Lesions should be examined in a standardized way; association between lesion and carcass char- acteristics at animal level is not always available

Table 2 Strengths and limitations of slaughterhouse examination for assessing the respiratory health of pigs

not sent to slaughter at once, but in two or three successive times over a few weeks. In such scenarios, the first pigs are usually those with the highest growth and health status, and therefore, have suffered the least from respiratory disease. The opposite might be the case for the smallest pigs of a group. These pigs might have had more health problems, and therefore, can result in an overestimation of the prevalence of lung lesions at the farm.

Usually, not all pigs but a subset of representative lungs from the farm is examined. Although a minimum of 30 randomly selected pigs from the same slaughter batch has been shown to provide reliable information at herd level [51], it is generally accepted that it is better to evaluate more pigs, or to make the sample proportional to the size of the batch. Statistical criteria to obtain the preferred accuracy for prevalence and/or severity scoring should be used. To this end, the size of the population at risk, the expected prevalence, and the desired confidence in the probability of detecting disease in the sample should be considered. The pigs to be examined can be selected by different sampling strategies, such as random sampling or systematic sampling, in which one pig every e.g. two, three or four pigs is scored.

#### 5.4 Interpretation of the results

Examination of the respiratory tract at the slaughterhouse generates prevalence data, as pigs are not monitored over time, but examined only once. However, lung lesions are dynamic, implying that lesions in young animals may have healed at the time of slaughter. This regression of lesions during the fattening period may therefore lead to false-negative results [52]. Pessoa et al. [53] performed an observational study in which groups of pigs were monitored weekly during the entire fattening period and at slaughter. They found positive associations between the prevalence of CVPC at slaughter and coughing during the last three weeks of the fattening period, but not with coughing earlier during the fattening period. They also found positive associations between the prevalence of fissures (attributed to chronic *M. hyopneumoniae* lesions) and coughing 7 to 3 weeks prior to slaughter. This suggests that lesions at slaughter reflect the respiratory health of the pigs during the last weeks of the fattening period, but that they are a poor indicator of the respiratory health of the pigs in the early fattening phase. This corroborates findings of Pagot et al. [54] and Baraldi et al. [31]. The healing of the lesions and the fact that some subclinical infections are not detected, may lead to an underestimation of the respiratory problems when relying solely on slaughterhouse examination. On the other hand, some infections leading to lesions may take place at the end of the fattening period only. In this case, a high prevalence and/

or severity of lesions may be observed at slaughter, whereas the pigs suffered from the health problem only for a short time, at the end of the fattening period. In this case, slaughterhouse evaluation results might overestimate the problems encountered during the fattening phase. Also, when very small lesions are counted, prevalence data might lead to an overestimation of the importance of the problem.

Apart from the dynamic nature of lung lesions, it is also important to realize that lesions might be typical, but that most lesions are not pathognomonic, that is not being specific for a pathogen. Therefore, slaughterhouse examination does not allow establishing an etiologic diagnosis. The results should be regarded to complement clinical and performance data from the farm and results from necropsy and laboratory examinations.

Slaughterhouse data can be used to investigate differences in the respiratory health of pigs raised in different barns within a farm, to assess evolution over time, and to benchmark the farm against other groups of farms or the national average. In this sense, slaughter data important in health schemes and for increasing awareness of these lesions by farmers [1]. Also, the effectiveness of intervention strategies can be evaluated. For efficacy trials or for assessing the impact of lesions on performance, the link between lesion and carcass characteristics is needed at animal level. Depending on the situation in the abattoir, it might not be possible to obtain this information.

#### 6 Scoring systems for CVPC and pleurisy

Different lung scoring systems have been developed over the past decades (Figure 1, Table 3). They are based on visual and manual assessment of the affected proportion of the lung [49]. Most of the scoring systems use a two-dimensional approach by assessing the percentage of lung surface that is affected [27, 55–58]. Other methods use the percentage of affected lung volume or weight and are therefore based on the three-dimensional characteristics of the lung [59–61].

Some slaughter-check diagrams include more detailed information about the lung, such as the type of pneumonia, location, the presence of other lesions on the lung (e.g. pleurisy, adhesions, abscesses) and/or evaluations of the liver and heart [60]. In some cases, drawing the lesion may be of help to better calculate the final scoring. Nevertheless, if this option is not feasible (due to the speed of the chain), an effective alternative to drawings would be digital images or photographs of lungs [62]. These images can/need to be reviewed later, which is time-consuming and slaughterhouses may limit the use of a camera in the premises. Using a voice activated recording device greatly simplifies records and allows the hands to manipulate the pluck.

#### 6.1 Scoring of CVPC

An overview of commonly used scoring methods for CVPC in pigs has been published by Garcia-Morante et al. [49] (Figure 1). They include the system described by Goodwin et al. [55], Hannan et al. [56], Madec and Kobisch [57], Morrison et al. [59], Christensen et al. [60], Sibila et al. [27], Straw et al. [58] and the system recommended by the European Pharmacopoeia (Ph. Eur., monograph number 04/2013:2448) [61] for the evaluation of porcine enzootic pneumonia as reference system. Other systems have also been described, e.g. Steinmann et al. [63], but they are not further discussed as frequently they derive from one (e.g. [58]) of the eight systems of Figure 1. The affected lung tissue score can be expressed as a number [55–57], or as a percentage [59–61]. Garcia-Morante et al. [49] reported high correlations between the different scoring systems. Also, Sitjar et al. [64] had found two measurement techniques based on either superficial or volumetric pneumonia to provide essentially identical information.

Some scoring systems have been developed to assess CVPC in pigs under experimental conditions when there is more time for the assessment [56], whereas others are more suitable for a rather fast assessment of the lesions under field conditions [59]. The scoring system described by Hannan et al. [56] is appropriate to carefully quantify lung lesions caused by experimental infection with *M*.

*hyopneumoniae*. The score ranges from 0 (no lesions) to 35 (all lung tissue affected). The lesions are first sketched onto a standard diagram of the lung, followed by analysis of sketches on the diagrams to determine the overall lung score.

#### 6.2 Scoring of pleurisy

An overview of commonly used scoring systems for pleurisy in slaughter pigs is summarized in Table 3.

#### 6.2.1 System by Madec and Kobisch

The first scoring system for pleurisy was developed by Madec and Kobisch [57]. This scoring system has the advantage of defining a score 4 for advanced stages likely having a major effect on performance and/or leading to carcass condemnations. Nevertheless, it should be ensured that non-evisceration is due to pleural adhesions and not to incorrect carcass preparation. Interlobar pleurisy, score 1, is easily identified by handling the lungs. However, localized pleurisy with a diameter smaller than 2 cm, score 2, requires good attention and may only be visible in good light. Sensitivity of scoring mild pleurisy cases may vary more between assessors [65] and emphasizes the need for training. Extensive pleurisy, score 3, and partial or total ribcage condemnations, score 4, are obvious and in most cases do not need palpation, but require carcass inspection.

Goodwin et al. [55]	Hannan et al. [56]	Madec and Kobisch [57]	Morrison et al. [59]
Two-dimensional	Two-dimensional	Two-dimensional	Three-dimensional
Score: 0-55	Score: 0-35	Score: 0-28	Score: 0-100
			7 12 7 7 5 30 30
Straw et al. [58]	Christensen et al. [60]	<b>Reference method [61]</b>	Sibila et al. [27]
Two-dimensional	Three-dimensional	Three dimensional	TT 1' ' 1
	The constant	Three-unitensional	Two-dimensional
Score: 0-100	Score: 0-100	Score: 0-100	Score: 0-100

Figure 1 Commonly used methods to score cranioventral pulmonary consolidation in slaughter pigs (adapted from [49]).

Table 3 Overview o	f pleuris	y scoring syster	ns in slaughter pigs <sup>a</sup>
--------------------	-----------	------------------	-----------------------------------

Score Scoring system

Score	Sconing system				
	Madec and Kobisch [57]	CTPA <sup>b</sup>	Pointon et al. [66	]	SPES <sup>c</sup>
0	No pleurisy				
1	Interlobular pleurisy (visceral pleurisy)	I Fibrinous pleurisy	Interlobular pleu- risy (adhesions	1 N: pleurisy with normal lungs	Cranioventral lesion: interlobar pleurisy or at ventral border of
		between lung lobes)	1P: pleurisy with pneumonic lungs	caudal lobes	
2 Localized pleurisy < 2 cm diameter	Extended pleurisy: lungs cannot be removed from the carcass	Pleurisy (adhe- sions of lungs to chest wall)	2 N: pleurisy with normal lungs	Dorsocaudal monolateral focal lesion	
			2P: pleurisy with pneumonic lungs		
3	Extensive pleurisy > 2 cm diameter with adhesions to ribcage	-	_		Bilateral lesion of type 2 or extended monolateral lesion (at least one third of one diaphragmatic lobe)
4	Partial or total ribcage con- demnation	-	-		Severely extended bilateral lesion (at least one third of both diaphragmatic lobes)

<sup>a</sup> The Danish system [41] is explained in the text but not listed in the table, as it differs significantly from the other systems

<sup>b</sup> CTPA System by the Centre Technique de Productions Animales[54]

<sup>c</sup> SPES Slaughterhouse Pleurisy Evaluation System[67]

# 6.2.2 System by the centre technique de productions animales (CTPA)

The Centre Technique des Productions Animales (CTPA) in France uses a simplified scoring system from 0 to 2 for on-farm trials [54]. It is a simple system for clinical trials with score 0 for absence of pleurisy, score 1 for fibrinous pleurisy and score 2 for extended pleurisy with adhesions to the ribcage. However, as stated in the original paper, score 1 would apply exclusively to acute forms of pleurisy (presence of fibrin) and does not apparently include the possibility of mild chronic forms with minimal adhesions to the thoracic cavity. In contrast, score 2 indicates that lungs cannot be easily removed from the carcass, which indicates exclusively chronic lesions with marked adherences. Therefore, a significant number of lungs found at abattoir might have lesions that should be considered in between those scoring values and, in consequence, certain classification difficulties may arise.

#### 6.2.3 System by Pointon et al. [66]

In North America and Australia, a system is used that specifically differentiates pleurisies with adhesions between lobe lungs (score 1) or between lungs and wall chest (score 2) [66]. Moreover, the scores take into account whether or not the pleurisy is associated with pneumonia (N: pleurisy without pneumonia; P: pleurisy with pneumonia). The scoring system is used in the American (PigMON) and Australian (PHMS, Pig Health Monitoring Schemes) monitoring schemes.

#### 6.2.4 Slaughterhouse pleurisy evaluation system (SPES)

The Zootechnical Institute of Lombardy and Emilia-Romagna (Italy) devised a new scoring system entitled SPES (Slaughterhouse Pleuritis Evaluation System) [67]. The system aims to determine the extension and localization of the lesions by focusing on the diaphragmatic lobes. It has also been used in other studies [21, 24, 27]. Di Provvido et al. [40] investigated an alternative method for pleurisy scoring, namely the PEPP (pleurisy evaluation of the parietal pleura). The method is easy to conduct and involves the evaluation of the parietal pleura i.e. the serous membrane lining the chest wall. Very high correlations were found with the SPES method.

# 6.2.5 System by Christensen et al. [41]

The Danish system of Christensen et al. [60], which is not listed in the table due to its dissimilarity with the other systems, involves careful examination of the lungs and sketching of the lesions in a record form [60]. It is much more precise than other systems, but it is not suitable for use at the slaughter line. The score is proportional to the damaged surface area on each lobe and for each side of the lungs (cranioventral and dorsocaudal).

# 6.2.6 System by Sibila et al. [27]

This system, developed in Spain, is based on the quantification of damaged lung surface by delimitating, in a picture and using an image software, the area of the affected lung tissue [27]. This system requires to take pictures from both sides of the lung (if presence of lesions at the ventral side is confirmed) and the analyses of the images through a software, indicating the percentage of affected area. Therefore, this system is difficult to be performed at the slaughterhouse. It has been used to analyze the outcome of experimental infections with *A. pleuropneumoniae* [27] as well as *M. hyopneumoniae* [49].

#### 6.3 Artificial intelligence to score lesions

The mentioned scoring systems are generally simple and easy to standardize. However, they are rather timeconsuming, and abattoir-related and inter-observer variations cannot be fully ruled out. Artificial intelligence-based technologies are under development to automatically score pictures of pleurisy in slaughtered pigs [48]. The automation of such a process would be extremely helpful to enable a systematic examination of all slaughtered livestock [68]. In the study of Trachtman et al. [48], artificial intelligence was able to differentiate pleural surfaces affected with pleurisy from healthy ones, with an overall accuracy of 86%. The system was better able to make distinction between severely and moderately affected pleural surfaces as compared to evaluation by experienced veterinarians. Further research is needed to train the neural networks to identify and score pneumonia, and to implement the system in large capacity slaughterhouses. The technology could provide the data in a suitable form for statistical analysis, thereby facilitating data processing and the supply of summaries and recommendations to industry stakeholders. Nevertheless, these systems will depend, among other factors, on the quality and precision of the pictures. The latter issue is not easy to be solved in a non-static hanged pluck of lungs.

# 7 Impact of CVPC and pleurisy on performance

Various approaches have been used to estimate productivity losses and economic impact of respiratory disease under field conditions. A commonly used strategy is to compare the performance of pigs showing lesions of the respiratory tract at slaughter with the performance of pigs not showing lesions, or else to compare the performance of batches of pigs with different prevalence of CVPC or pleurisy. Studies that have investigated the impact of CVPC and pleurisy in slaughter pigs are discussed below.

# 7.1 Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation 7.1.1 Impact of presence of CVPC

Morrison et al. [59] studied 23 publications to examine the possible negative effect of CVPC at slaughter on average daily gain (ADG). In 10 studies, no negative effect of CVPC was identified; in the other studies, a negative association was found. Pagot et al. [54] reported that the ADG during the fattening period was approximately three percent lower for pigs showing CVPC at slaughter. They detected large differences between farms; in some farms, the ADG decrease in pigs with CVPC reached up to 7%. Also, Paisley et al. [36] showed substantial variation between herds. The presence of CVPC in two farms was associated with a decreased ADG during the fattening period of 31 and 137 g respectively. In a recent study in one farm, Paz-Sánchez et al. [8] found that the presence of CVPC reduced ADG by 9%.

Martínez et al. [69] did not find a negative effect of CVPC lesions on ADG and feed efficiency. In that study, performance data were analysed at farm level, whereas lung lesions were assessed at slaughter from one subgroup (35 pigs) per farm only. The subgroup might not have been fully representative for the farm and the number of farms might have been too small to observe statistical differences.

# 7.1.2 Impact of severity (extension) of CVPC

Several studies also examined the effect of severity of CVPC on performance (Table 4). The term severity is used here to refer to the extension of the pneumonic lesion. Straw et al. [51] calculated, based on the results of five studies, that ADG is decreased by 37.4 g for every 10% of the pig's lung surface affected by CVPC. They also demonstrated that, on average, CVPC caused 17% and 14% decreases in ADG and in feed efficiency, respectively. The same authors further reported that the percentage increase in feed conversion ratio (FCR) was highly correlated with the percentage decrease in ADG, meaning that when there is a negative effect on ADG, one can also expect a negative effect on FCR, and vice versa.

Hill et al. [7] indicated that a 10% increase in the volume of pneumonic tissue (within the range of 1 to 70% affected lung volume) was associated with a decrease in ADG by 41.1 g, and a 16.7-day increase in number of days to reach 104.5 kg. Very similar results (-31.5 g ADG decrease for each 10% of affected lung volume) were obtained in a follow-up study two years later [70]. Regula et al. [50] found a decrease in ADG of 6.8 g for each percent of affected lung tissue. A recent study [71], obtained results that were in between the two previous studies, namely 1.8 g decrease in ADG during the fattening period for one percent increase in area lung consolidation, corresponding with 18 g decrease in ADG for 10 percent affected lung tissue. Similar results were obtained by Christensen [72], who showed that each 1% of lung volume affected by CVPC lesions reduced DWG by 2.2 g, and increased the number of days to reach slaughter weight by 0.61 days. He further calculated that the growth-depressing effects of M. hyopneumoniae

References	Study population	Impact on ADG	Comment
Presence of	CVPC		
[59]	23 studies	10 publications: no effect 13 publications: decrease	
[51]	9 studies	-17%	Feed conversion ratio +14% High correlation between decreased ADG and feed conversion ratio
[36]	2 farms (578 pigs)	Farm A: —26 g Farm B: —26 g	
[54]	14 farms (6,997 pigs)	-38 g (-4.9%)	Large differences between farms (range: $-7\%$ to $+2.6\%$
[69]	39 farms	No effect	No effect on feed conversion ratio Performance data were analysed at farm level; lung lesions were assessed on one subgroup (35 pigs per farm) at slaughter
[8]	1 farm (108 pigs)	-9%	
Severity of	CVPC		
[51]	5 studies	37.4 g per 10% of affected lung tissue	Five studies
[52]	21 pigs	20% CVPC throughout lifetime: 25 kg lower weight at slaughter	Radiographic monitoring of the lungs from 21 to 180 days of age 25 days extra to reach slaughter weight
[7]	2 farms (41 lungs)	41.1 g/day for 10% affected lung volume	10% affected lung leads to 16.7 days more to reach 104.5 kg
[70]	2 farms (58 lungs)	31.4 g/day for 10% affected lung volume	10% affected lung leads to 13·2-days more to reach 104.2 kg Only significant association between lung lesion and ADG in one farm
[72]	1 farm (333 pigs)	2.2 g/day for each 1% of affected lung volume	1% affected lung leads to 0.61 days more to reach slaughter weight; early infections cause more perfor- mance loss
[50]	7 farms (18 cohorts with 30–35 pigs / cohort)	6.8 g/day for 1% of affected lung	Serologic testing was more effective than slaughter evaluation in assessing the impact of subclinical infec- tion on ADG
[73]	1 farm (138 pigs)	Score 2: —45 g/day (—6%) Score 3: —90 g/day (—11%)	Lung consolidation: score 1: 0–5%; score 2: 6–40%; score 3: > 40% Score 2: 3.13 kg less at slaughter Score 2: 10.85 kg less at slaughter
[54]	14 farms (6,997 pigs)	-7.0 g/day (0.7%) for 1 point increase in severity score (1-28)	More ADG decrease in pigs with severe lesions: score 0: 775 g; scores 1–4: 750 g; scores 5–8: 735 g; score > 8: 695 g
[71]	1 farm (500 pigs)	1.8 g/day for each 1% of affected lung surface	Financial loss of §6.55 in pigs with more than 15% affected lung tissue compared to animals without lesions
[8]	1 farm (108 pigs)	—66.4 g/day in pigs with > 10% of affected lung surface versus pigs with no lesions:	Days to slaughter: + 8 days; carcass weight: -3.6 kg

# Table 4 Studies assessing the impact of cranioventral pulmonary consolidation (CVPC) on average daily gain (ADG) in pigs.

infections are, on a relative scale, more pronounced in pigs with severe CVPC. Donkó et al. [73] used the scoring method of Straw et al. [58] and showed a reduction in ADG during the fattening period of 5.5% and 11% for pigs with CVPC score 2 (5–40% of lung tissue consolidated) and score 3 (>40% of lung tissue consolidated), respectively.

Pagot et al. [54] reported that the CVPC score at slaughter explained 19% of the ADG variation. One supplementary point in the CVPC Madec score (0–28) corresponded with approximately 0.7% of lost growth.

Other studies emphasized the importance of the dynamic nature of lesions and/or time of infection when assessing the impact on performance. Noyes et al. [52] and Wallgren et al. [74] indicated that CVPC lesions present at slaughter are a poor indicator of lifetime pneumonia, as lesions can progress and regress throughout the life of pigs. They indicated that the approximate time of infection should be included to obtain a useful interpretation of the severity and impact of CVPC lesions at slaughter. Morris et al. [75] and Sitjar et al. [64] showed that weight losses due to *M. hyopneumoniae* infections

are more substantial when pigs are infected early in life, as they have suffered from the respiratory problems for a longer time.

Paisley et al. [36] showed that the presence of interlobular fissures or scars at slaughter, which are considered to be old or healed CVPC lesions [12], was associated with a reduced ADG early in the fattening period, while CVPC (recent Mycoplasma-like lesions) at slaughter was associated with a reduced ADG in the period close to the time of slaughter. Noyes et al. [52] calculated that a pig with 20% affected lung tissue throughout its lifetime, measured by radiographic examinations throughout the fattening period, weighs 25 kg less or reaches slaughter weight about 25 days later than a pig without CVPC. In a later study, Sitjar et al. [64] did not find an overall significant association between lifetime pneumonia and reduced ADG. They indicated that the discrepancy with the study of Noyes et al. [52] might be due to the fact that the farm studied had a less severe respiratory problem than the one studied previously. Even so, Sitjar et al. [64] did find a strong correlation between average lifetime pneumonia and decreased ADG in lightweight pigs, which generally had more severe CVPC than heavier weight animals.

Other studies did not only focus on the presence or severity of the lesions, but also emphasized the importance of lesions being the result of either a single infection or mixed infection, and therefore included different disease parameters to assess the impact on performance. The effect of a single *M. hyopneumoniae* infection on ADG and FCR can only be assessed under experimental conditions, since almost all field infections are complicated by other infectious agents. The effects of single *M. hyopneumoniae* infections on ADG are variable, with some studies [76, 77] showing pronounced negative effects on ADG (-117 g/d and -10-20%, respectively), whereas other studies did not find a negative effect [49, 78]. The different results might be explained by differences in the challenge model or other aspects of the study design. Experimental challenge involves a limited number of animals, implying that the statistical power is often (extremely) low to show significant differences in parameters with a large variation such as ADG. Also, a small proportion of dead pigs might have a large impact on the outcome. Furthermore, challenge models in which high doses of M. hyopneumoniae organisms are inoculated once or twice and in which pigs are monitored for a short period (after infection), are not reliable to mirror the field situation of a chronic respiratory disease. Therefore, challenge studies are not very suited to assess the impact on performance.

Rautiainen et al. [43] compared the performance of individual pigs during the fattening period of two farms

based on their serological status against M. hyopneumoniae and CVPC at slaughter. Pigs with M. hyopneumoniae serum antibodies and CVPC at slaughter, grew from 75 to 176 g/day slower (10.2% to 17.5% reduction) than pigs without antibodies and CVPC. They also showed that pigs that became seropositive for M. hyopneumoniae late during the fattening period without or with only very mild CVPC had a reduced ADG (60 g/day) compared to seronegative pigs without CVPC [43]. Similarly, Regula et al. [50] reported that M. hyopneumoniae seropositive pigs had lower ADG (38 g/day) compared to those that were seronegative. The latter authors suggested that regular monitoring for antibodies against respiratory pathogens during the fattening phase was more effective in assessing the impact of subclinical infection on performance than monitoring lung lesions at slaughter.

#### 7.2 Pleurisy

Pagot et al. [54] reported that pleurisy at slaughter was associated with an ADG decrease of 39 g (5.2%), and a 6-day increase in the length of the fattening period (Table 5). They also found that CVPC and pleurisy had a synergistic effect. Hence, animals showing CVPC and pleurisy suffered from 15% lower growth than non-affected pigs.

Straw et al. [51] demonstrated that, on average, pleurisy decreased ADG and FCR by 34% and 26%, respectively. Paz-Sánchez et al. [8] found an ADG decrease of 11% in pigs with pleurisy. Mousing et al. [29] showed that pigs with pleurisy had a lower carcass weight at slaughter, and Hartley et al. [79] showed that pleurisy was associated with increased time (up to 8 days) to slaughter.

On the contrary, Paisley et al. [36] showed that pleurisy without the presence of other lesions was not associated with decreased performance. Also, Martínez et al. [69] could not observe a negative effect of pleurisy on performance. As mentioned before, some limitations of the latter study might have resulted in lack of identifying a potential relationship.

Jäger et al. [80] estimated the cost of pleurisy in British pig herds to be £5 (approximately €6) per pig produced. Their calculations were based on industry standard costs associated with 6% increase in mortality during the grower-finisher period, 20% prevalence of pleurisy, 50 g reduction in ADG and 0.1 reduction of FCR. Ferraz et al. [71] estimated a cost of US\$6.6 (approximately €6.4) per pig produced considering a reduction in ADG of 27 g associated with lesions (CVPC and pleurisy) in ≥ 15% of the lungs compared with pigs without lesions. Calderón Díaz et al. [81] showed, using a bio-economic simulation study, that from six recorded pluck lesions, pleurisy and lung scars were the main lesions associated with

Reference	Study population	Impact on ADG	Comment
[79]	9592 pigs from 78 farms; examined in 4 slaughter- houses		Fattening period + 8 days
[51]	4 studies	-34%	Feed conversion ratio + 26%
[29]	4800 pigs, selected on spe- cific days in one slaughter- house	Lower carcass weight	Effect was shown in multivariable logistic model with carcass weight being nega- tively associated with pleurisy lesions
[36]	2 farms (578 pigs)	Farm A: no effect Farm B: -28 g /—42 g	Effects in farm B were depending on localization of pleurisy: dorsocaudal pleurisy: no effect; parietal pleurisy: -28 g; antero-ventral pleurisy: -42 g
[54]	14 farms (6997 pigs)	—39 g (—5.2%)	Large differences between farms (range: -19.9% to $\pm$ 4.6%) Severity of pleurisy: score 1: -54 g; score 2: -37 g Fattening duration $\pm$ 6 days Pleurisy and CVPC: ADG -15% (synergistic effect)
[69]	39 farms (one batch per farm)	No effect	No effect on feed conversion ratio Performance data were analysed at farm level; lung lesions were assessed on one subgroup (35 pigs) at slaughter
[8]	1 farm (108 pigs)	-11%	

Table 5 Studies assessing the impact of the presence of pleurisy on average daily gain (ADG) in pigs.

decreases in ADG during the grow-finisher period and a lower economic return.

Apart from a decrease in average performance, there is a considerable cost associated with unequal rates of growth of pigs within a herd. Slow growing pigs must be held back and marketed later, or the producer must accept a deduction for lightweight pigs at slaughter. These hidden costs must be considered when calculating the costs and benefits of intervention strategies.

In some cases, pigs may have more than one type of lesion in the respiratory tract or in other organs, e.g. the liver [1]. In that case, such lesions may also influence the performance of the animals. This can lead to comparison of growth rates in groups of pigs with different diseases or combinations of diseases, rather than comparing diseased and non-diseased groups. This might result in over- or under-estimation of the importance of some lesions.

In addition to the performance losses for the farmer, pleurisy also incurs losses for the abattoirs because pleurisy requires trimming of the carcass causing disruption, reducing line speed, and increasing labor and wastage costs. Some processors might no longer want to bear these costs, implying that producers that keep submitting consignments with high pleurisy prevalence might be penalized in the future.

# 8 Impact of CVPC and pleurisy on carcass and meat quality

Pigs affected with lung lesions eat less, and therefore, they do not fully use their genetic potential for muscle synthesis and fat accumulation [82, 83]. Paz-Sánchez et al. [8] observed that pigs without lung lesions had an average carcass weight of 77.7 kg at 200.8 days, whereas the carcass weight of pigs with lung disease was 75.5 kg at 206 days old. In a first study, Escobar et al. [78] reported that a single experimental *M. hyopneumoniae* infection did not affect whole-body fat or protein accretion of nursery pigs during a four-week experiment. In a later study using experimental infection with *M. hyopneumoniae* and PRRSV [84], they reported that the magnitude of increases in inflammatory cytokines is predictive for decreases in protein accretion and growth. The authors further suggested that during infection, growth of skeletal muscle is limited in part by increased levels of myostatin, a circulating factor that may act as a muscle chalone.

Ostanello et al. [85] investigated 109 batches of Italian pigs of approximately 160 kg (9–10 months of age). They found a significant negative association between the mean CVPC score of a batch of slaughter pigs and the carcass quality, based on the EUROP evaluation grid. That system uses percentage of lean meat content of the carcasses, batch homogeny and carcass attitude for the production of raw ham as carcass quality parameters. The authors speculated that the negative effects on carcass quality might be due to hypoxia due to the pulmonary lesions.

Lung lesions may also cause changes in pH, water holding capacity, color, flavor, and cooking quality loss of the meat [86]. Permentier et al. [87] showed that the pH values measured at the end of the slaughter line in the loin of pigs with more than 25% and less than 5% lung lesions, were 6.01 and 6.20, respectively. This indicates pigs with lung lesions lead to a higher risk for pale, soft and exudative (PSE) traits and quality losses in cooked or drycured ham. The other meat quality parameters were not significantly different between pigs with and without lung lesions.

Čobanović et al. [88] investigated 625 pigs originating from 20 small-scale farms and assessed the influence of different lung lesions on carcass and meat quality parameters. Pigs with CVPC and pleurisy had the lowest live weight, hot and cold carcass weight and meatiness. Additionally, pigs with multiple lesions had lower live and carcass weights than pigs affected by a single pathological condition. Likely, this is due to repartitioning of nutrients from muscle deposition and bone growth towards tissues where repair processes are needed (e.g. lung tissue affected by pneumonia).

In a study of Karabasil et al. [83], pigs with CVPC (pH 6.23) and pleurisy (pH 6.23) had higher average pH in the carcasses at the end of the slaughter line compared to pigs without lesions (pH 6.14). The percentages of carcasses with PSE as well as with DFD (dry, firm and dark) meat were significantly higher in pigs with CVPC (PSE 9.7%; DFD 12.6%) or pleurisy (PSE 8.0%; DFD 16.0%) compared to pigs without lesions (PSE 3.9%; DFD 5.1%). This results in meat with a higher risk for poor processing characteristics, bacterial growth and a reduced shelf life. Similar findings had been obtained in an earlier small-scale (79 pigs) study [83].

# 9 Conclusions and areas for further research

Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation and pleurisy lesions in slaughter pigs are typical for infections with *M. hyopneumoniae* and *A. pleuropneumoniae*, respectively, but the lesions are not pathognomonic, and other pathogens may cause similar lesions and/or also contribute to these lesions. To have a better view of the pathogens involved, additional diagnostic testing for infectious agents and their infection patterns should therefore be conducted. Attention should be paid to the possible polymicrobial nature of the lesions, the effects of possible immunosuppressive pathogens and the environmental conditions on the farm.

The overall prevalence of CVPC and pleurisy in slaughter pigs is high and similar to values reported two to four decades ago. Possibly, the extension of the lesions has decreased in the last decades. There is also a large variation between the different studies, and among individual farms. This implies that future research should be directed towards the development and implementation of better control measures such as vaccination strategies, management practices, biosecurity, and biocontainment.

Evaluation of CVPC and pleurisy at slaughter is simple, fast, and rather easy to conduct, but variation due to abattoir, observer and method might be an issue. Artificial intelligence-based technologies hold great promise to automatically score lesions and facilitate useful feedback to the Page 14 of 17

farmer, the herd veterinarian and other stakeholders. More research is needed to test and optimize this technology, to develop it for different (lung) lesions in slaughter pigs and to investigate the feasibility of its reliable implementation in different slaughterhouse conditions.

Cranioventral pulmonary consolidation and pleurisy in batches of slaughter pigs have a negative impact on performance of the pigs, and the negative effects are more pronounced with the prevalence and the severity of the lesions. The results however vary between studies and farms. This is likely due to differences in study design (type of pathogens involved, infection levels, infection patterns, farm characteristics and management, age of slaughtering) and methods used to assess the lesions. The major economic losses due to these lesions suggest that research in developing better control measures is warranted and will pay off for the farmer and the entire pig sector. In addition to the losses for the farmer, CVPC and pleurisy also decrease carcass and meat quality. The economic losses in this part of the pork production chain have largely been neglected so far, but they can be tremendous as there is an influence on food quality and safety, and the shelf life of the carcasses. Research in quantifying these economic losses and the impact for food safety and public health is needed.

Given the high prevalence and impact of CVPC and pleurisy lesions for the farmer, the slaughterhouse and all stakeholders of the pig sector, monitoring lung lesions of slaughter pigs should be optimized and be implemented routinely for as many farms as possible. It is recommended to complement this information with other farm data such as clinical scores, antimicrobial use, animal behavior and welfare scores and performance data to obtain a more holistic view of the respiratory health status of the farm.

#### Abbreviations

A. pleuropneumoniae	Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae
ADG	average daily gain
B. bronchiseptica	Bordetella bronchiseptica
CTPA	centre technique des productions animales
CVPC	cranioventral pulmonary consolidation
DFD	dry, firm and dark
EP	enzootic pneumonia
FCR	feed conversion ratio
G. parasuis	Glaesserella parasuis
M. hyopneumoniae	Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae
M. hyorhinis	Mycoplasma hyorhinis
PCV2	porcine circovirus 2
PEPP	pleurisy evaluation of the parietal pleura
PRDC	porcine respiratory disease complex
PRRSV	porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus
PSE	pale, soft and exudative
SPES	slaughterhouse pleurisy evaluation system

#### Authors' contributions

DM wrote the paper. All coauthors have critically revised the entire manuscript, each with emphasis on specific parts namely, characterization of lesions and pathogens involved (MS, MP, FH, JS), prevalence (MS, MP, FH, LG, JS), slaughterhouse examination (MS, MP, LG, JS), scoring systems (MS, JS) and impact of lesions (MS, MP, FH, LG). The authors have collaborated on the topic when writing the book Mycoplasmas in Swine (ISBN 978–94-6379–796-2, Acco Publishers, Leuven Belgium), and/or are collaborating on a joint research project related to porcine respiratory disease. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

## Declarations

#### **Competing interests**

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### Author details

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Reproduction and Population Medicine, Unit of Porcine Health Management, Salisburylaan 133, 9820 Merelbeke, Belgium. <sup>2</sup>Unitat Mixta d'Investigació IRTA-UAB en Sanitat Animal. Centre de Recerca en Sanitat Animal (CReSA), Campus de La Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona (UAB), Bellaterra, 08193 Catalonia, Spain. <sup>3</sup>IRTA. Programa de Sanitat Animal. Centre de Recerca en Sanitat Animal (CReSA), Campus de la Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona (UAB), Bellaterra, 08193 Catalonia, Spain. <sup>4</sup>OIE Collaborating Centre for the Research and Control of Emerging and Re-Emerging Swine Diseases in Europe (IRTA-CReSA), 08193 Barcelona, Bellaterra, Spain. <sup>5</sup>Department of Veterinary Population Medicine, Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory & Swine Disease Eradication Center, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, MN, USA. <sup>6</sup>Departament de Sanitat i Anatomia Animals, Facultat de Veterinària, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Bellaterra, 08193 Barcelona, Spain. <sup>7</sup>School of Agricultural and Veterinarian Sciences, São Paulo State University (Unesp), Jaboticabal, Brazil.

# Received: 13 October 2022 Accepted: 4 January 2023 Published online: 01 February 2023

#### References

- Eze JI, Correia-Gomes C, Borobia-Belsué J, Tucker AW, Sparrow D, Strachan DW, Gunn G (2015) Comparison of respiratory disease prevalence among voluntary monitoring systems for pig health and welfare in the UK. PLoS One 10:e0128137. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0128137
- Marois C, Segalés J, Holtkamp D, Chae C, Deblanc C, Opriessnig T, Fablet C (2020) Interactions of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* with other pathogens and economic impact. In: Maes D, Sibila M, Pieters M (eds) Book Mycoplasmas in Swine. Acco Publishers, Leuven Belgium, pp 127–144
- Maes D, Deluyker H, Verdonck M, Castryck F, Miry C, Vrijens B, Ducatelle R, de Kruif A (2001) Non-infectious herd factors associated with macroscopic and microscopic lung lesions in slaughter pigs from farrow-tofinish pig herds. Vet Rec 148:41–46. https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.148.2.41
- Oliveira Filho JX, Morés MAZ, Rebelatto R, Agnol AMD, Plieski CLA, Klein CS, Barcellos DESN, Morés N (2015) Pasteurella multocida type a as the primary agent of pneumonia and septicaemia in pigs. Pesqui Vet Bras 35:716–724. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-736X2015000800003
- Paladino ES, Gabardo MP, Lunardi PN, Morés N, Guedes RMC (2017) Anatomopathological pneumonic aspects associated with highly pathogenic *Pasteurella multocida* in finishing pigs. Pesqui Vet Bras 37:1091– 1100. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-736X2017001000009
- Galdeano J, Baraldi T, Ferraz M, de Souza AH, Mechler-Dreibi M, Costa W, Montassier H, Mathias LA, Guilherme de Oliveira L (2019) Cross-sectional study of seropositivity, lung lesions and associated risk factors of the main pathogens of porcine respiratory diseases complex (PRDC) in Goiás. Brazil Porc Health Manag 5:23
- Hill M, Scheidt A, Teclaw R, Clark L, Knox K, Jordan M (1992) Association between growth indicators and volume of lesions in lungs from pigs at slaughter. Am J Vet Res 53:2221–2223
- Paz-Sánchez Y, Herráez P, Quesada-Canales Ó, Poveda CG, Díaz-Delgado J, Quintana-Montesdeoca MdP, Plamenova Stefanova E, Andrada M (2021) assessment of lung disease in finishing pigs at slaughter: pulmonary lesions and implications on productivity parameters. Animals 11:3604. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11123604

- 9. European Union. 2004. Regulation No. 854/2004. Section II. URL: http://. eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2004:139:0206:0320: EN:PDF, Accessed 6 September 2022
- Gottschalk M, Broes A (2019) Actinobacillosis. In: Zimmerman LA, Karriker AR, Schwartz KJ, Stevenson GW, Jianqiang Z, Jeffrey J (eds) Diseases of Swine. John Wiley & Sons Inc, New York, pp 749–766
- Carr J, Sibila M, Segalés J (2020) Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae clinical signs and gross lung lesions, including monitoring. In: Dominiek M, Marina S, Maria P (eds) Book Mycoplasmas in Swine. Acco Publishers, Leuven Belgium, pp 97–107
- Kobisch M, Blanchard B, Le Potier MF (1993) Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae infection in pigs: Duration of the disease and resistance to reinfection. Vet Res 24:67–77
- Pieters M, Maes D (2019) Mycoplasmosis. Diseases of swine, Chapter 56. In: *Diseases of Swine*, Eleventh Edition. Edited by Jeffrey J. Zimmerman, Locke A. Karriker, Alejandro Ramirez, Kent J. Schwartz, Gregory W. Stevenson, and Jianqiang Zhang. John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 863–883
- Villarreal I, Maes D, Meyns T, Gebruers F, Calus D, Pasmans F, Haesebrouck F (2009) Infection with a low virulent *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* isolate does not protect piglets against subsequent infection with a highly virulent *M. hyopneumoniae* isolate. Vaccine 27:1875–1879. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.12.005
- Garcia-Morante B, Segalés J, Lopez-Soria S, de Rozas AP, Maiti H, Coll T, Sibila M (2016) Induction of mycoplasmal pneumonia in experimentally infected pigs by means of different inoculation routes. Vet Res 47:54. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-016-0340-2
- Garcia-Morante B, Segalés J, Serrano E, Sibila M (2017) Determinants for swine mycoplasmal pneumonia reproduction under experimental conditions: a systematic review and recursive partitioning analysis. PLoS One 12:e0181194. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181194
- Pallarés F, Añón J, Rodríguez-Gómez I, Gómez-Laguna J, Fabré R, Sánchez-Carvajal J, Ruedas-Torres I, Carrasco L (2021) Prevalence of mycoplasmalike lung lesions in pigs from commercial farms from Spain and Portugal. Porc Health Manag 7:26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40813-021-00204-3
- Cleveland-Nielsen A, Nielsen EO, Ersboll AK (2002) Chronic pleurisy in Danish slaughter pig herds. Prev Vet Med 55:121–135. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0167-5877(02)00089-2
- Enøe C, Mousing J, Schirmer AL, Willeberg P (2002) Infectious and rearing-system related risk factors for chronic pleurisy in slaughter pigs. Prev Vet Med 54:337–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-5877(02)00029-6
- Garcia-Morante B, Segalés J, Fraile L, Llardén G, Coll T, Sibila M (2017) Potential use of local and systemic humoral immune response parameters to forecast *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* associated lung lesions. PLoS One 12:0175034. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0175034
- Fraile L, Alegre A, Lopez-Jimenez R, Nofrarias M, Segales J (2010) Risk factors associated with pleuritis and cranio-ventral pulmonary consolidation in slaughter-aged pigs. Vet J 184:326–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl. 2009.03.029
- Opriessnig T, Giménez-Lirola LG, Halbur PG (2011) Polymicrobial respiratory disease in pigs. Anim Health Res Rev 12:133–148. https://doi.org/10. 1017/S1466252311000120
- Ferreira M, Mechler-Dreibi M, Sonalio K, Almeida H, Ferraz M, Jacintho A, Maes D, Guilherme de Oliveira L (2021) Co-infections by *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*, *Mycoplasma hyorhinis* and *Mycoplasma flocculare* in macroscopic lesions of lung consolidation of pigs at slaughter. Vet Microbiol 258:109123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2021.109123
- Meyns T, Vansteelant J, Rolly E, Dewulf J, Haesebrouck F, Maes D (2011) A cross-sectional study of risk factors associated with pulmonary lesions in pigs at slaughter. Vet J 187:388–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2009.12. 027
- Fablet C, Dorenlor V, Eono F, Eveno E, Jolly JP, Portier F, Bidan F, Madec F, Rose N (2012) Noninfectious factors associated with pneumonia and pleuritis in slaughtered pigs from 143 farrow-to-finish pig farms. Prev Vet Med 104:271–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2011.11.012
- Merialdi G, Dottori M, Bonilauri P, Luppi A, Gozio S, Pozzi P, Spaggiari B, Martelli P (2012) Pleurisy evaluation on the parietal pleura: an alternative scoring method in slaughtered pigs. Vet J 193:234–239
- Sibila M, Aragon V, Fraile L, Segalés J (2014) Comparison of four lung scoring systems for the assessment of the pathological outcomes derived from *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae* experimental infections. BMC Vet Res 10:165. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-6148-10-165

- Wallgren P, Nörregård E, Molander B, Persson M, Ehlorsson CJ (2016) Serological patterns of Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae, Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae, Pasteurella multocida and Streptococcus suis in pig herds affected by pleurisy. Act Vet Scand 58:71. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13028-016-0252-1
- Mousing J, Lybye H, Barfod K, Meyling A, Ronsholt L, Willeberg P (1990) Chronic pleurisy in pigs for slaughter: an epidemiological study of infectious and rearing system-related risk factors. Prev Vet Med 9:107–119
- Jirawattanapong P, Stockhofe-Zurwieden N, van Leengoed L, Wisselink H, Raymakers R, Cruijsen T, van der Peet-Schwering C, Nielen M, van Nes A (2010) Pleuritis in slaughter pigs: relations between lung lesions and bacteriology in 10 herds with high pleuritis. Res Vet Sci 88:11–15. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2009.06.007
- 31. Baraldi TG, Cruz NRN, Pereira DA, Galdeano JVB, Gatto IRH, Silva AFD, Panzardi A, Linhares DCL, Mathias LA, de Oliveira LG (2019) Antibodies against Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae, Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae and influenza virus and their relationships with risk factors, clinical signs and lung lesions in pig farms with one-site production systems in Brazil. Prev Vet Med 171:104748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2019. 104748
- Fablet C, Marois-Créhan C, Simon G, Grasland B, Jestin A, Kobisch M, Madec F, Rose N (2012) Infectious agents associated with respiratory diseases in 125 farrow-to-finish pig herds: a cross-sectional study. Vet Microbiol 157:152–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2011.12.015
- Wellenberg G, Bouwkamp F, Wolf P, Swart W, Mombarg M, de Gee A (2010) A study on the severity and relevance of porcine circovirus type 2 infections in Dutch fattening pigs with respiratory diseases. Vet Microbiol 142:217– 224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2009.10.003
- Rodrigues da Costa M, Fitzgerald RM, García Manzanilla E, O'Shea H, Moriarty J, McElroy MC, Leonard FC (2020) A cross-sectional survey on respiratory disease in a cohort of Irish pig farms. Ir Vet J 73:24. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13620-020-00176-w+
- De Conti ER, Takeuti KL, Schwertz CI, Bianchi RM, Driemeier D, de Barcellos D (2021) Agents of pneumonia in slaughtered pigs in southern Brazil. Pesqui Vet Bras 41:e06669. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-5150-PVB-6669
- Paisley L, Vraa-Andersen L, Dybkjaer L, Møller K, Christensen G, Mousing J, Agger J (1993) An epidemiologic and economic study of respiratory diseases in two conventional Danish swine herds. I: prevalence of respiratory lesions at slaughter and their effects on growth. Acta Vet Scand 34:319–329. https://doi. org/10.1186/BF03548175
- Maes D, Dewulf J, Boyen F, Haesebrouck F (2018) Disease identification and management on the pig farm (chapter 4). In: Achieving sustainable production of pig meat. Volume 3: Animal Health and Welfare. Editors: Julian Wiseman. Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing, Cambridge UK, 77–103
- Neumann E, Hall W, Stevenson M, Morris R, Ling Min Than J (2014) Descriptive and temporal analysis of post-mortem lesions recorded in slaughtered pigs in New Zealand from 2000 to 2010. NZ Vet J 62:110–116. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/00480169.2013.853278
- Hälli O, Haimi-Hakala M, Oliviero C, Heinonen M (2020) Herd-level risk factors for chronic pleurisy in finishing pigs: a case-control study. Porc Health Manag 6:21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40813-020-00156-0
- Di Provvido A, Trachtman AR, Farina E, Vaintrub M, Fragassi G, Vignola G, Marruchella G (2019) Pleurisy evaluation on the parietal pleura: an alternative scoring method in slaughtered pigs. J Swine Health Prod 27:312–316
- Christensen G, Enøe C (1999) The prevalence of pneumonia, pleuritis, pericarditis, and liver spots in Danish slaughter pigs in 1998, including comparison with 1994. Danish Vet J 82:1006–1015
- Maes D (1998) Respiratory disease in slaughter pigs: epidemiological aspects and effect of vaccination against *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. PhD thesis, Ghent University Belgium, 212 pp. http://hdl.handle.net/ 1854/LU-8576694
- Rautiainen E, Virtala AM, Wallgren P, Saloniemi H (2000) Varying effects of infections with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* on the weight gain recorded in three different multisource fattening pig herds. J Vet Med B Infect Dis Vet Public Health 47:461–469. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0450.2000. 00370.x
- Overesch G, Kuhnert P (2017) Persistence of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* sequence types in spite of a control program for enzootic pneumonia in pigs. Prev Vet Med 145:67–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2017. 06.007

- 45. Gulliksen SM, Baustad B, Framstad T, Jørgensen A, Skomsøy A, Kjelvik O, Gjestvang M, Grøntvedt CA, Lium B (2021) Successful eradication of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* from the Norwegian pig population—10 years later. Porc Health Manag 7:37. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40813-021-00216-z
- Luehrs A, Siegenthaler S, Grütznera N, grosse Beilage E, Kuhnert P, Nathues H (2017) Occurrence of *Mycoplasma hyorhinis* infections in fattening pigs and association with clinical signs and pathological lesions of enzootic pneumonia. Vet Microbiol 203:1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vetmic.2017.02.001
- 47. Finnish Food Authority, open database (2022) https://www.ruokavirasto. fi/en/ (Accessed 3 August 2022)
- Trachtman A, Bergamini L, Palazzi A, Porrello A, Dondona A, Del Negro E, Paolini A, Vignola G, Calderara S, Marruchella G (2020) Scoring pleurisy in slaughtered pigs using convolutional neural networks. Vet Res 51:51. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13567-020-00775-z
- Garcia-Morante B, Segalés J, Fraile L, Pérez de Rozas A, Maiti H, Coll T, Sibila M (2016) Assessment of *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*-induced Pneumonia using different lung lesion scoring systems: a comparative review. J Comp Pathol 154:125–1344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcpa.2015. 11.003
- Regula G, Lichtensteiger CA, Mateus-Pinilla NE, Scherba G, Miller GY, Weigel RM (2000) Comparison of serologic testing and slaughter evaluation for assessing the effects of subclinical infection on growth in pigs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 217:888–895
- Straw B, Tuovinen V, Bigras-Poulin M (1989) Estimation of the cost of pneumonia in swine herds. J Am Vet Med Assoc 195:1702–1706
- Noyes EP, Feeney DA, Pijoan C (1990) Comparison of the effect of pneumonia detected during lifetime with pneumonia detected at slaughter on growth in swine. J Am Vet Med Assoc 197:1025–1029
- Pessoa J, Rodrigues da Costa M, García Manzanilla E, Norton T, McAloon C, Boyle B (2021) Managing respiratory disease in finisher pigs: Combining quantitative assessments of clinical signs and the prevalence of lung lesions at slaughter. Prev Vet Med 186:105208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. prevetmed.2020.105208
- Pagot E, Pommier P, Keïta A (2007) Relationship between growth during the fattening period and lung lesions at slaughter in swine. Rev Med Vet 158:253–259
- Goodwin RF, Hodgson RG, Whittlestone P, Woodhams RL (1969) Some experiments relating to artificial immunity in enzootic pneumonia of pigs. J Hyg 67:465e476
- Hannan PC, Bhogal BS, Fish JP (1982) Tylosin tartrate and tiamutilin effects on experimental piglet pneumonia induced with pneumonic pig lung homogenate containing mycoplasmas, bacteria and viruses. Res Vet Sci 33:76–88
- 57. Madec F, Kobisch M (1982) Bilan lesionnel des poumons de porcs charcutiers à l'abattoir. Journ Rech Porcine 14:405–412 (in French)
- Straw B, Backström L, Leman A (1986) Evaluation of swine at slaughter.
  I. The mechanics of examination, and epidemiologic considerations. Compend Contin Educ Pract Vet 8:541–548
- 59. Morrison R, Pijoan C, Leman A (1986) Association between enzootic pneumonia and performance. Pig News Inform 7:23–30
- Christensen G, Sorensen V, Mousing J (1999) Diseases of the respiratory system. In: Straw BE, D'Allaire S, Mengeling WL, Taylor DJ (eds) Diseases of Swine, 8th edn. Iowa State University Press, Ames, pp 913–940
- Ph. Eur. (European Pharmacopoeia) (2013) Monograph 04/2013:2448. Porcine enzootic pneumonia vaccine (inactivated). Ph. Eur., 8th Edition, Strasbourg, France. Accessed 6 September 2022
- Baysinger A, Polson D, Philips R, Taylor M, Hartsook G, Lechtenberg K (2010) Visual-only evaluation of lung lesions as an alternative to palpation at necropsy. Proceedings of the 21st International Pig Veterinary Society, July 18–21, Vancouver Canada, 659
- 63. Steinmann T, Blaha T, Meemken D (2014) A simplified evaluation system of surface-related lung lesions of pigs for official meat inspection under industrial slaughter conditions in Germany. BMC Vet Res 10:98
- Sitjar M, Noyes E, Simon X, Pijoan C (1996) Relationships among seroconversion to Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae, lung lesions, and production parameters in pigs. J Swine Health Prod 4:273–277
- Davies PR, Bahnson PB, Grass JJ, Marsh WE, Dial GD (1996) Agreement among veterinarians evaluating gross lesions of lungs, liver and nasal turbinates of pigs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 4:823–826

- Pointon A, Mercy A, Bäckström L, Dial G (1992) Disease Surveillance at Slaughter. Diseases of Swine. A.D. Leman, B.E. Straw, W.L. Mengeling, S. D'Allaire, and D.J. Taylor. Iowa State University Press, 968–987
- Dottori M, Nigrelli A, Bonilauri P, Gozio S, Cominotti F (2007) Proposta di un nuovo sistema di punteggiatura delle pleuriti suine in sede di macellazione. La griglia S.P.E.S. (Slaughterhouse Pleuritis evaluation system). Large Anim Rev 13:161–165
- Hattab J, Bonicelli L, Capobianco Dondona A, Marruchella G (2022) Artificial intelligence and slaughtered pigs: a promising affair. In: Proceedings 26th IPVS congress, 21–24 June 2022, Rio de Janeiro Brazil, 568
- Martínez J, Peris B, Gómez E, Corpa JM (2009) The relationship between infectious and non-infectious herd factors with pneumonia at slaughter and productive parameters in fattening pigs. Vet J 179:240–246
- Hill M, Scheidt A, Teclaw R, Clark L, Knox K, Jordan M (1994) Relationship between the indicators of performance and the weight of pneumonic lesions from pigs at slaughter. Res Vet Sci 56:240–244
- Ferraz M, Almeida H, Storino G, Sonálio K, Souza M, Moura C, Costa W, Lunardi L, Linhares D, de Oliveira L (2020) Lung consolidation caused by *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* has a negative effect on productive performance and economic revenue in finishing pigs. Prev Vet Med 182:105091, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2020.105091
- Christensen N (1995) Evaluation of the effects of enzootic pneumonia in pigs on weight gain and days to slaughter under New Zealand conditions. NZ Vet J 43:146–148
- Donkó T, Kovács M, Magyar T (2005) Association of growth performance with atrophic rhinitis and pneumonia detected at slaughter in a conventional pig herd in Hungary. Acta Vet Hung 53:287–298
- Wallgren P, Beskow P, Fellström C, Renström L (1994) Porcine lung lesions at slaughter and their correlation to the incidence of infections by *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* and *Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae* during the rearing period. J Vet Med B 41:441–452
- Morris C, Gardner I, Hietala S, Carpenter T (1995) Enzootic pneumonia: comparison of cough and lung lesions as predictors of weight gain in swine. Can J Vet Res 59:197–204
- Kobisch M, Sibelle C (1982) Evaluation de l'efficacité de la tiamuline chez des porcelets infectés expérimentalement par *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae*. Rec Med Vet 158:375–381 (in French)
- Strasser M, Abiven P, Kobisch M, Nicolet J (1992) Immunological and pathological reactions in piglets experimentally infected with *Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae* and/or *Mycoplasma flocculare*. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 31:141–153
- Escobar J, Van Alstine WG, Baker DH, Johnson RW (2002) Growth performance and whole-body composition of pigs experimentally infected with Mycoplasma hyopneumoniae. J Anim Sci 80:384–391. https://doi.org/10.2527/2002. 802384x
- Hartley PE, Wilesmith JW, Bradley R (1988) Prevalence of pleurisy in pigs at slaughter. Vet Rec 123:173–175. https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.123.7.173
- Jäger HJ, Mckinley TJ, Pearce GP, Tucker AW, Wood JLN (2009) Pleurisy in Pigs: Associated risk factors and impact on health, welfare. British Pig Executive (BPEX) Report:1–94
- Calderón Díaz JA, Rodrigues da Costa M, Shalloo L, Niemi J, Leonard FC, Crespo-Piazuelo D, Gasa J, García Manzanilla E (2020) A bio-economic simulation study on the association between key performance indicators and pluck lesions in Irish farrow to-finish pig farms. Porc Health Manag 6:40. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40813-020-00176-w
- Čobanović ND, Karabasil NR, Cojkić AR, Vasilev DD, Stajković SS (2016) Carcass quality and hematological alterations associated with lung lesions in slaughter pigs. Sci Papers Anim Sci Biotechnol 49:236–240
- Karabasil N, Čobanović N, Vučićević I, Stajković S, Becskei Z, Forgách P, Aleksić-Kovačević S (2017) Association of the severity of lung lesions with carcass and meat quality in slaughter pigs. Acta Vet Hung 65:354–365. https://doi.org/10.1556/004.2017.034
- Escobar J, Van Alstine WG, Baker DH, Johnson RW (2004) Decreased protein accretion in pigs with viral and bacterial pneumonia is associated with increased myostatin expression in muscle. J Nutr 134:3047–3053. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/134.11.3047
- Ostanello F, Dottori M, Gusmara C, Leotti G, Sala V (2007) Pneumonia disease assessment using a slaughterhouse lung-scoring method. J Vet Med A 54:70–75
- Dailidavičiene J, Januškevičiene G, Milius J, Mieželiene A, Alenčikiene G (2009) Influence of lung pathology on pig carcasses' microbiological quality and sensory parameters. Bull Vet Inst Pulawy 53:433–438

- Permentier L, Maenhout D, Deley W, Broekman K, Vermeulen L, Agten S, Verbeke G, Aviron J, Geers R (2015) Lung lesions increase the risk of reduced meat quality of slaughter pigs. Meat Sci 108:106–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. meatsci.2015.06.005
- Čobanović ND, Janković L, Vasilev D, Dimitrijević M, Teodorović V, Kureljušić B, Karabasil N (2019) Slaughterline records of various postmortem pathological lesions and their influence on carcass and meat quality in slaughtered pigs. Anim Sci J 90:1475–1483. https://doi.org/10.1111/asj.13287
- Turni C, Meers J, Parke K, Singh R, Yee S, Templeton J, Mone NK, Blackall PJ, Barnes TS (2021) Pathogens associated with pleuritic pig lungs at an abattoir in Queensland Australia. Aust Vet J 99:163–171. https://doi.org/10.1111/avj. 13058
- 90. Leneveu Ph, Robert N, Keïta A, Pagot E, Pommier P, Tessier Ph (2005) Lung lesions in pigs at slaughter: a 2-year epidemiological study in France. Int J Appl Res Vet Med 3:259–265
- Van Staaveren N, Vale A, Manzanilla EG, Teixeira DL, Leonard FC, Hanlon A, Boyle LA (2016) Relationship between tail lesions and lung health in slaughter pigs. Prev Vet Med 127:21–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2016.03. 004
- Alawneh JI, Parke CR, Lapuz EJ, David JE, Basinang VG, Baluyut AS, Barnes TS, Villar EC, Lopez ML, Meers J, Blackall PJ (2018) Prevalence and risk factors associated with gross pulmonary lesions in slaughtered pigs in smallholder and commercial farms in two provinces in the Philippines. Front Vet Sci 5:7. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00007
- Tadee P, To-in P, Thongjamroon J, Patchanee P, Thongkamkoon P, Tadee Ph (2019) Lung consolidations assessment and associated bacterial pathogens detection in slaughter-aged pigs in Chiang Mai—Lamphun, Thailand. Vet Integr Sci 17:1–10

# **Publisher's Note**

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

#### At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions

